New York Journal of Mathematics

New York J. Math. 28 (2022) 1172-1192.

Minimal genus and simplified classes in rational manifolds

Josef G. Dorfmeister

ABSTRACT. This note studies the minimal genus problem for classes which are equivalent, via the geometric diffeomorphism group, to a simplified class in $\mathbb{C}P^2\#k\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$. It is shown that the orbit structure for primitive classes is basically determined by the self-intersection number. Making use of this result, an upper bound for the minimal genus for each orbit is determined and it is shown that for k large enough, then genus stabilizes at either 0 or 1.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction		1172
2.	Notation		1174
3.	The case $k \ge 4$		1178
4.	Reduction to a difference		1179
5.	Equivalence to Diophantine equation		1181
6.	Existence of solutions		1183
7.	The case $k = 2$		1185
8.	Minimal genus		1187
	8.1.	Primitive ordinary classes	1187
	8.2.	Primitive characteristic classes	1187
References			1190

1. Introduction

The minimal genus problem asks what the smallest possible genus of a smoothly embedded connected surface representing the class $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ in a given smooth manifold M is. In this note, this problem is studied for classes of $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ whose orbit under the action of the geometric automorphism group D(M) contains a simplified class.

Received July 19, 2022.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 57R40, 57N35, 57R95, 57R50.

Key words and phrases. Minimal Genus, Rational Manifolds, 4-Manifolds, Geometric Automorphism Group, Lorentz Orthogonal Transformation, Quadratic Forms.

The homology of a smooth oriented four manifold M comes endowed with a symmetric bilinear form $Q: H_2(M, \mathbb{Z}) \times H_2(M, \mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Z}$. Orientation preserving diffeomorphisms of M act by automorphisms on $H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ and these preserve the form Q. To study the minimal genus problem, it is natural to ask, for a class $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$, what do the orbits O_A under this geometric automorphism group D(M) look like? What can be said about $H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})/D(M)$?

These questions are studied for rational manifolds $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \mathbb{C}P^2$ ($k \geq 2$), which have second homology $H_2(M,\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^{k+1}$ and Q = diag(1,-1,...,-1). In this manifold, the questions above can be viewed from a variety of aspects. Aside from the geometric view stated above, the pair $(H_2(M,\mathbb{Z}),Q)$ form a lattice, hence results from this area as well as on quadratic forms can be applied. Moreover, there exists a Kac-Moody algebra with Q as its generalized Cartan matrix and with root lattice $H_2(M,\mathbb{Z})$. These structures are reviewed in Section 2.

In the following, for a class $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$, the notation $A^2 = Q(A, A) = n$ will be used. For classes with $A^2 \ge -2$, results by Kac ([11], 5.11) describe the orbit structure of the D(M)-action completely for $3 \le k \le 10$ and some results are known if $n \ge -16$, see Section 2. For classes with $A^2 < -16$ no systematic results are known to the author.

The main result of this note is the following, for definitions of terms used see Section 2.

Theorem 1.1. Let $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ $(k \ge 3)$ and $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ with $A^2 = -n < 0$. Assume that A is primitive and the D(M)-orbit O_A of A contains a simplified class. Then for each (k, n), n > 0, the following is true.

- (1) If A is ordinary, then O_A is the unique primitive ordinary orbit.
- (2) If $n \equiv_4 k 1$ and A is characteristic, then O_A is the unique primitive characteristic orbit.

For k = 2, this is known to be false by an example of C.T.C. Wall, see [25]. In Section 7, Wall's example is put into a broader context and the existence of multiple orbits is related to binary quadratic forms of indefinite type.

It is possible to determine a representative for each primitive orbit, see Cor. 3.2. This makes it possible to determine the minimal genus in the ordinary case.

Lemma 1.2. Let $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ $(k \geq 3)$ and $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ with $A^2 < 0$. Assume that A is primitive ordinary and the D(M)-orbit O_A of A contains a simplified class. Then it has minimal genus $g_A = 0$. Moreover, for each class there exists a complex orientation-compatible structure on M such that the curve can be chosen holomorphic and a symplectic orientation-compatible structure on M such that the curve is symplectic.

If *A* is primitive characteristic this is a bit more complicated. In particular, the minimal genus can only be determined for sufficiently many blow-ups, a stabilization-type result.

Lemma 1.3. Let $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ $(k \ge 3)$ and $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ with $A^2 < 0$. Assume that A is primitive characteristic, $A^2 = -(8\gamma + k - 1)$ $(\gamma > 0)$ and the D(M)-orbit O_A of A contains a simplified class.

- (1) If $1 \le k \le 2\gamma 1$, then the minimal genus of any embedded surface representing A is bounded above by $2\gamma k$.
- (2) If γ is odd and $k \geq 2\gamma 1$, then the minimal genus of any embedded surface representing A is 1.
- (3) If γ is even and $k \geq 2\gamma$, then the minimal genus of any embedded surface representing A is 0.

The outline of the paper is as follows. Section 2 introduces notation and basic definitions. Section 3 reduces the question in $k \ge 4$ to a question in k = 3. The core of this note is the proof of Theorem 1.1 in the case k = 3. This begins in Section 4, where it is shown that all classes A = (a, b, c, d) with $A^2 = -n < 0$ and |a - d| = 1 or 2 are equivalent under the D(M)-action (Theorem 4.3). Section 5 relates this equivalence to a class with difference |a - d| = 1 or 2 to an appropriate system of Diophantine equations (Theorem 5.1). Finally, Section 6 proves that this system has a solution over the integers. This then completes the proof of Theorem 1.1. Section 7 consider the case k = 2 and places the example of Wall into a broader context. The minimal genus result are described in Section 8.

Acknowledgements: The author would like to thank Tian-Jun Li for useful suggestions to improve this paper.

2. Notation

Let $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ $(k \ge 2)$. In this note, the standard basis for $H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ is given by $\{H, E_1, ..., E_k\}$ with $H^2 = Q(H, H) = 1$ and $E_i^2 = Q(E_i, E_i) = -1$. In this basis, a class will be denoted $A = aH - \sum_i b_i E_i = (a, b_1, ..., b_k)$.

 $H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ can be viewed from three different viewpoints with corresponding automorphism (sub)groups:

(1) The homology of the manifold M. The geometric automorphism group is given by

$$D(M) = \{ \sigma \in Aut(H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})) : \sigma = f_* \text{ for some } f \in Diff^+(M) \}.$$
 (1)

- (2) An integer lattice L with quadratic form Q together with the orthogonal group O(L) of lattice automorphisms preserving Q.
- (3) ([29]) The lattice $H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ is the root lattice of a Kac-Moody algebra, Q is the generalized Cartan matrix, and the Weyl group W is the subgroup of O(L) generated by reflections on classes with $Q(x, x) \in \{-1, -2\}$. A reflection of B on the class A is given by

$$r_A(B) = B - \frac{2Q(A,B)}{A^2}A.$$

Note that for $k \le 9$ this is a hyperbolic Kac-Moody algebra. Clearly, $D(M) \subset O(L)$. More is true if $k \le 9$: **Theorem 2.1** ([8],[17], [29]). If $k \le 9$, then W = D(M) = O(L). If $k \ge 10$, then D(M) is a proper subgroup of W.

The generators of these groups will be of interest in the following sections. For this reason, consider the following maps with regard to the standard basis.

- T_H : Reflection on the class H. This has the effect of a sign change on the H-coordinate.
- T_i : Reflection on the class E_i . This has the effect of a sign change on the E_i -coordinate.
- T_{ij} : Reflection on the class $E_i E_j$. This has the effect of interchanging the elements E_i and E_j .
- (k = 2) Reflection on the class $H E_1 E_2$:

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & -2 & -2 \\ 2 & -1 & -2 \\ 2 & -2 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$

• (k = 3) Reflection on the class $H - E_1 - E_2 - E_3$:

$$R = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 & -1 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 & -1 \\ 1 & -1 & 0 & -1 \\ 1 & -1 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Observe that RT_iR is the map S applied to the class A with the b_i term ignored.

• $(k \ge 4) R$ acts only on the components (H, E_i, E_j, E_k) , acting by identity on the remaining terms, i.e. there is a family of operators R_{ijk} generated by R.

Observe that $T_H T_1 T_2 T_3 = -id$, $T_i^t = T_i$, $T_{ij}^t = T_{ij}$, $S^t = T_1 T_2 S T_1 T_2$ and $R^t = T_1 T_2 T_3 R T_1 T_2 T_3$ (.t denotes the transpose.).

Lemma 2.2 ([25], [19], [29]). W is generated by T_i , T_{ij} and R. D(M) is generated by these operators and T_H .

Definition 2.3. Two classes $A, B \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ are called D(M)-equivalent if there is a $\sigma \in D(M)$ such that $\sigma(A) = B$. Denote by O_A the orbit of the class A under the action of D(M).

Homology classes in rational manifolds under D(M)-action exhibit two special classes. The first, reduced, arise as the elements of the fundamental chamber C, see [11] and [25]. The second are simplified classes, which form the counterpart to the reduced classes, see [18].

Definition 2.4. *Let* $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$.

- (1) A class $A = (a, b_1, ..., b_k)$ is called reduced if $a \ge 0$, $b_1 \ge ... \ge b_k \ge 0$
 - (a) $a \ge b_1 (k = 1)$,
 - (b) $a \ge b_1 + b_2 (k = 2)$ or

- (c) $a \ge b_1 + b_2 + b_3 (k \ge 3)$
- (2) A class $A = (a, b_1, ..., b_k)$ is called simplified if $a \ge 0, b_1 \ge ... \ge b_k \ge 0$ and
 - (a) $2a \le b_1 + b_2 (k = 2)$ or
 - (b) $3a \le b_1 + b_2 + b_3 (k \ge 3)$

It is not hard to see that if $k \le 9$ and $A^2 < 0$, then A may be equivalent to a simplified class, but not a reduced one. For $k \ge 10$, $A^2 < 0$, A may be equivalent to either type. For each fixed value $A^2 = -n$, the set of simplified classes is always finite.

Lemma 2.5 ([15], [18], [29]). Let $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ and $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ with $A \neq 0$.

- (1) A is D(M)-equivalent to a reduced or simplified class.
- (2) Each orbit O_A contains either a simplified class or a reduced class, never both.
- (3) If A is D(M)-equivalent to a reduced class, then this is the unique reduced class in O_A .

This lemma implies that to understand orbits containing reduced classes, it suffices to study reduced classes as generators of the orbits. In the simplified case, each orbit may contain many such classes and thus a list of simplified classes does not enumerate the orbits. It is shown in [29], that each orbit contains a minimal simplified class. However, it is not clear how to decide if a given simplified class is minimal in its orbit or how to list only the minimal simplified classes.

Denote for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ the set

$$Z_n = \{ A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z}) \mid A^2 = n \}.$$

The following summarizes known results for the structure of $Z_n/D(M)$.

- (1) Reduced Classes: The collection of all reduced classes (when $k \ge 10$ this will also include classes with $A^2 < 0$) forms the fundamental chamber C of the Kac-Moody algebra generated by the root lattice $H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$. The action of the Weyl group W on this fundamental chamber produces the Tits cone X and C is a fundamental domain for this action ([11], 3.12 and 5.10). The structure of $Z_n/D(M)$ is then given by Lemma 2.5.
- (2) $n \in \{0, -1, -2\}$, $3 \le k \le 10$: Example 5.11 in [11] shows that in this case Theorem 1.1 holds. In fact, this result can be extended with the aid of simplified classes, see below. See also [18]. In particular, for n = 0 the following is true.

Lemma 2.6 ([11], Cor 5.11; [15]). Let $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$, $k \in \{2, 3\}$, and assume that $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ satisfies $A^2 = 0$. Then A is either 0 or D(M)-equivalent to the class $a(H - E_1)$, $a \in \mathbb{Z}$.

- (3) n = -16, k = 2: Wall [25] showed that there are two primitive ordinary classes with distinct orbits. In Section 7, this example will be presented and a more general result shown to be true. See also Prop.1, [18].
- (4) $0 > n \ge -16$, $2 \le k \le 9$: The main results in [18] addresses the case for k = 3 and these results are then extended to $4 \le k \le 9$ proving a version of Theorem 1.1. The case of k = 2 is a combined result of [26], [14] and [18].

Definition 2.7. (1) A class $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ is called characteristic if $Q(A, B) \equiv_2 Q(B, B)$ for all $B \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$. It is called ordinary if it is not characteristic. (2) A class $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$ is called divisible if A = dB for some $d \in \mathbb{Z}$. A class is primitive if it is not divisible.

The condition $Q(A, B) \equiv_2 Q(B, B)$ implies that in $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ each a, b_i is odd.

These considerations lead to the following decomposition: fix (k, n) and consider the D(M)-orbits in Z_n for $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$.

- (1) Reduced Orbits: Each orbit contains a single reduced class. This class may be primitive, characteristic or divisible. For fixed *n* there may be more than one orbit, even when restricted to primitive non-characteristic classes.
- (2) Simplified Orbits: Each orbit contains at least one simplified class.
 - (a) Orbits of Divisible Classes: Only if n is divisible by a square will such orbits exist. Moreover, if $n = p^2 \tau$, then the structure of these orbits in $Z_n/D(M)$ will be determined by the structure of $Z_\tau/D(M)$.
 - (b) Primitive Characteristic Orbits: All classes in these orbits have purely odd entries. These can be considered rare as for fixed k they only occur for $n = 8\gamma + k 1$, $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}$.
 - (c) Primitive Ordinary Orbits: The remaining primitive and non characteristic classes form the last set of orbits.

In this paper, the focus will be on simplified classes, especially in k=2 and k=3. The constructions in the following sections are generally valid also for reduced classes in k=3, but they are of little significance for $k \ge 4$ in contrast to the simplified case. Moreover, it will be assumed throughout that the class A is primitive.

The action of D(M) on a class is almost parity preserving, as the following lemma shows.

Lemma 2.8. Let $n = 4\tau + i$, $\tau \in \mathbb{Z}$ and assume A is primitive with $A^2 = n$. Abbreviate even=e and odd=o and list the parities of a and b_i in order a, b_1 , b_2 , b_3 by a 4-tuple of e's and o's.

- (1) i = 1: A has parities oeee or eooo.
- (2) i = 2: A has parities eeoo or oooo.
- (3) i = 3: A has parities eeeo or oooe.
- (4) i = 4: A has parity ooee.

Moreover, the action by D(M) preserves the parities if i = 2, 4 and, if i = 1, 3, may swap them.

Proof. Clearly any elementary transformation does not change any of the parities. With regard to the map R, consider the case i = 1:

$$\tilde{a} = 2a - b_1 - b_2 - b_3$$
 and $\tilde{b}_i = a - b_i - b_k$.

If one b_* is odd, then \tilde{a} is odd and two of the \tilde{b}_* are odd, the other even. If two of b_* are even, then \tilde{a} is even, two of the b_* are even and the remaining one is odd. So the map R interchanges the two possible parity-tuples for i=1.

The other cases are similar.

3. The case $k \ge 4$

The aim of the next sections is to prove the following result.

Lemma 3.1. Let k = 3 and $A^2 = -n < 0$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, be a primitive class. Then

- (1) If A is ordinary, then A is D(M)-equivalent to either $(\tau, \tau + 1, 0, 0)$ $(n = 2\tau + 1 \text{ odd})$ or $(\tau 1, \tau, 1, 0)$ $(n = 2\tau \text{ even})$.
- (2) If $n = 4\tau + 2$ and A is characteristic, then A is D(M)-equivalent to $(\tau 1, \tau + 1, 1, 1)$

Assuming this result holds, the proof of Theorem 1.1 can be completed for $k \geq 4$. Assume A is primitive ordinary with a simplified class in O_A . Assume further that $A = (a, b_1, ..., b_k)$ is simplified, then $3a \leq b_1 + b_2 + b_3$ and hence the class (a, b_1, b_2, b_3) satisfies $a^2 - b_1^2 - b_2^2 - b_3^2 < 0$. Thus by Lemma 3.1, this part can be reduced to $(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}_1, \tilde{b}_2, 0)$ while keeping the remainder $(b_4, ..., b_k)$ unchanged. Thus, A is equivalent to a class $(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}_1, ..., \tilde{b}_{k-1}, 0)$. The class $\tilde{A} = (\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}_1, ..., \tilde{b}_{k-1})$ still satisfies $\tilde{A}^2 = -n$ and $O_{\tilde{A}}$, viewed as an orbit for k-1, still contains a simplified class in k-1 terms. If not then, by Lemma 2.5, it would contain a reduced class, and so too would O_A , in violation of Lemma 2.5. Hence, an inductive argument completes the proof of Theorem 1.1 for primitive ordinary classes under the assumption that Lemma 3.1 holds.

Similarly, assume that A is primitive characteristic. Then $n=4\tau+k-1$ and, if A is simplified, a brief calculation shows that $\tau \geq 0$ and even. Thus, $n \geq k-1$. As before, if O_A contains a characteristic class, then A is equivalent by Lemma 3.1 to a class $(\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}_1, ..., \tilde{b}_{k-2}, 1, 1)$. The class $\tilde{A} = (\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}_1, ..., \tilde{b}_{k-2})$ is characteristic, satisfies $\tilde{A}^2 = -n + 2 \leq -k + 3 < 0$ and $O_{\tilde{A}}$, viewed as an orbit for k-2, still contains a simplified class in k-2 terms. Hence, an inductive argument completes the proof of Theorem 1.1 for primitive characteristic classes under the assumption that Lemma 3.1 holds.

The inductive argument given above allows for an explicit description of a representative of each orbit, similar to Lemma 3.1.

Corollary 3.2. Let $k \ge 3$, $A^2 = -n < 0$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, be a primitive class and assume O_A contains a simplified class.

- (1) If A is ordinary, then A is D(M)-equivalent to either $(\tau, \tau + 1, 0, ..., 0)$ $(n = 2\tau + 1 \text{ odd})$ or $(\tau 1, \tau, 1, 0, ..., 0)$ $(n = 2\tau \text{ even})$.
- (2) If $n = 8\gamma + k 1$ and A is characteristic, then A is D(M)-equivalent to $(2\gamma 1, 2\gamma + 1, 1, ..., 1)$

It is now possible to describe a fundamental domain for the D(M)-action on Z_n :

- (1) If n is square free and $n \neq 8\gamma + k 1$, then any class in Z_n is primitive ordinary. Thus, $Z_n/D(M)$ is in bijection with the set of reduced classes of square n and, if n < 0, additionally a single class from Cor. 3.2. These generate all of the orbits of the D(M) action.
- (2) If *n* is square free and $n = 8\gamma + k 1$, then an additional simplified orbit appears, generated by the characteristic class in Cor. 3.2.
- (3) If *n* is not square free, then in addition to the classes described previously, for each factor $n = p^2 \tilde{n}$, all the \tilde{n} orbits would also appear.

4. Reduction to a difference

This section will begin the study of negative orbits O_A for k=3. Through an explicit family of operators in D(M), the equivalence of two classes $A_1, A_2 \in Z_{-n}$ for n>0 will be reduced to the study of the differences $|a-b_i|$. For ease of notation, this, and subsequent sections, will write A=(a,b,c,d) and focus on the difference |a-d|. The elementary transformations suffice to reorganize any class so that the difference of interest is in the d-slot.

Lemma 4.1. *Let* $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$, *then*

$$M(\alpha) := T_{12}^{\alpha} (RT_1T_2)^{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + \alpha^2 & \alpha & \alpha & -\alpha^2 \\ \alpha & 1 & 0 & -\alpha \\ \alpha & 0 & 1 & -\alpha \\ \alpha^2 & \alpha & \alpha & 1 - \alpha^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. For $\alpha = 0$, this is the identity and for $\alpha = 1$, by matrix multiplication:

$$T_{12}RT_1T_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 & 1 & -1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now proceed by induction:

$$T_{12}^{\alpha+1}(RT_1T_2)^{\alpha+1} = T_{12}M(\alpha)RT_1T_2 =$$

$$= T_{12} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^2 + 2\alpha + 2 & \alpha + 1 & \alpha + 1 & -\alpha^2 - 2\alpha - 1 \\ \alpha + 1 & 0 & 1 & -\alpha - 1 \\ \alpha + 1 & 1 & 0 & -\alpha - 1 \\ \alpha^2 + 2\alpha + 1 & \alpha + 1 & \alpha + 1 & -\alpha^2 - 2\alpha \end{pmatrix} =$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 + (\alpha + 1)^2 & \alpha + 1 & \alpha + 1 & -(\alpha + 1)^2 \\ \alpha + 1 & 1 & 0 & -\alpha - 1 \\ \alpha + 1 & 0 & 1 & -\alpha - 1 \\ (\alpha + 1)^2 & \alpha + 1 & \alpha + 1 & 1 - (\alpha + 1)^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

If α < 0, then observe that

$$(RT_1T_2)^{-1} = T_2T_1R$$
 and $T_{12}T_1T_2 = T_1T_2T_{12}$

and hence,

$$T_{12}^{\alpha}(RT_1T_2)^{\alpha} = T_1T_2 \left[T_{12}^{|\alpha|}(RT_1T_2)^{|\alpha|} \right] T_1T_2.$$

Remark: This family of maps can also be found in the proof of Lemma 3.3, [29].

Lemma 4.2. Let $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, then

$$R(\alpha,\beta) := M(\alpha)T_1M(\beta) = \begin{pmatrix} 1+\alpha^2+\beta^2 & \beta-\alpha & \beta+\alpha & -\beta^2 \\ \alpha-\beta & -1 & 0 & \beta-\alpha \\ \alpha+\beta & 0 & 1 & -\alpha-\beta \\ \alpha^2+\beta^2 & \beta-\alpha & \beta+\alpha & 1-\alpha^2-\beta^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof. This is obtained by matrix multiplication using the above lemma.

For a given class (a, b, c, d), this map acts as

$$R(\alpha, \beta)(a, b, c, d) = (a(\alpha, \beta), b(\alpha, \beta), c(\alpha, \beta), d(\alpha, \beta))$$

where

$$a(\alpha, \beta) = a + (\alpha^2 + \beta^2)(a - d) + \beta(b + c) + \alpha(-b + c),$$

$$b(\alpha, \beta) = -b + (\alpha - \beta)(a - d),$$

$$c(\alpha, \beta) = c + (\alpha + \beta)(a - d),$$

$$d(\alpha, \beta) = d + (\alpha^2 + \beta^2)(a - d) + \beta(b + c) + \alpha(-b + c).$$

The map $R(\alpha, \beta)$ preserves a - d.

The functions $a(\alpha, \beta)$ and $d(\alpha, \beta)$ describe paraboloids, hence admit a unique maximum or minimum. This extremal point is at

$$(\alpha_0, \beta_0) = \left(\frac{b-c}{2(a-d)}, -\frac{b+c}{2(a-d)}\right)$$

and takes values $b(\alpha_0, \beta_0) = c(\alpha_0, \beta_0) = 0$,

$$a(\alpha_0, \beta_0) = \frac{-n}{2(a-d)} + \frac{a-d}{2}$$
 and $d(\alpha_0, \beta_0) = a(\alpha_0, \beta_0) - (a-d)$

These values only depend on n and a-d, hence for all classes which have the same |a-d|, the magnitude of these values are identical. In particular, note that if A has a-d>0, then, using elementary transformations, (-a,b,c,-d) has $\tilde{a}-\tilde{d}=-a+d<0$. Thus the sign of a-d is not relevant, one can consider either a-d or -(a-d) as is convenient for the situation at hand.

Clearly there is no guarantee that $\alpha_0, \beta_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$, however there is an integer point nearby. The following theorem shows that this nearby point can be significant.

Theorem 4.3. Let k = 3 and $A^2 = -n$.

- (1) All classes with |a d| = 1 are D(M)-equivalent.
- (2) If $n \equiv_4 2$, all characteristic classes with |a d| = 2 are D(M)-equivalent.

Proof. Assume that by applying elementary transformations, the class (a, b, c, d)satisfies a - d = -1 or -2.

If a - d = -1, then consider two cases:

- (1) If b + c is even, then $\alpha_0, \beta_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ and from above it shows that each class is equivalent to the class $\left(\frac{n-1}{2}, 0, 0, \frac{n+1}{2}\right)$.
- (2) If b + c is odd, then $\alpha_0, \beta_0 \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$, hence the closest integer points lie at $\pm \frac{1}{2}$ from (α_0, β_0) . Due to the symmetry properties of the paraboloid, the value of $a(\alpha, \beta)$ and $d(\alpha, \beta)$ are the same at all four points and the values of $b(\alpha, \beta)$ and $c(\alpha, \beta)$ differ by signs and permutations. So the value only needs to be calculated at one point. Calculating the value shows each class in this case is equivalent to $\left(\frac{n-2}{2}, 1, 0, \frac{n}{2}\right)$.

Note that by Lemma 2.8, each case produces a vector in \mathbb{Z}^4 . Now consider the case a-d=-2. Then $\beta_0=\frac{b+c}{4}$, $\alpha_0=-\frac{b-c}{4}$. As A is characteristic, $n = 4\tau + 2$, $\tau \ge 0$ even, and each entry in A is odd. Moreover, one of b+c and b-c is divisible by 4, the other only by 2. Hence, the nearest integer point to (α_0, β_0) is either $(\alpha_0, \beta_0 + \frac{1}{2})$ or $(\alpha_0 + \frac{1}{2}, \beta_0)$. In either case, the values of $b(\alpha, \beta)$ and $c(\alpha, \beta)$ will be 1, 1, the value for $a = \tau - 1$. Thus, each characteristic class with |a-d|=2 is equivalent to $(\tau-1,1,1,\tau+1)$.

This result explains the origin of the classes which appear in Lemma 3.1.

Remark: Denote k = |a - d|. It can be shown, that if $k^2 \le n$, any class is equivalent to a similar class as in the previous theorem. Such terminal classes (a, b, c, d) are characterized by the properties $a, b, c, d \ge 0, b \ge c, b + c \le k$ and d = a + k. However, if $k \ge 4$, then these terminal classes may not be unique.

The goal in the following is to show that a given class is equivalent to one with |a-d|=1 or, if A is characteristic, to |a-d|=2. For this reason, define

$$\Delta = \begin{cases} 1 & A \text{ is ordinary,} \\ 2 & A \text{ is characteristic.} \end{cases}$$

5. Equivalence to Diophantine equation

Let
$$v^t = (1, 0, 0, -1)$$
, then

$$v^t A = a - d$$
.

Thus, to test if a given class A has a difference that has value Δ , it is necessary to test in this fashion against all images of v under elementary transformations. In particular, to test whether O_A contains a class with $a-d=\Delta$, consider all numbers of the form

$$(Ev)^t LA$$

with *E* any product of elementary transformations and $L \in D(M)$. This can be written as

$$(L^t E v)^t A$$

where $L^tE \in D(M)$ by the comments preceding Lemma 2.2. Thus, to determine if O_A contains a class with difference Δ , it suffices by Lemma 2.6 to find a class \tilde{v} with square 0 such that

$$\tilde{v}^t A = \Delta$$
.

Conversely, once such a class \tilde{v} has been found, there exists an element $L \in D(M)$ such that $L\tilde{v} = v$, again by Lemma 2.6. Hence

$$\Delta = \tilde{v}^t A = (Lv)^t A = v^t L^t A$$

and thus the element $L^t A \in O_A$ has difference Δ .

If $\Delta=1$, then \tilde{v} is primitive. If $\Delta=2$, then it is not possible for this equation to have a non-primitive solution, as any non-primitive solution would imply that there is a solution to the equation $v^t \cdot A=1$, which is not possible in the characteristic case.

Theorem 5.1. Let $M = \mathbb{C}P^2 \# 3\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ and $A = (a, b, c, d) \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$. The following are equivalent:

- (1) A is D(M)-equivalent to a class with difference Δ .
- (2) The system of Diophantine equations

$$z^2 = x^2 + y^2 + w^2$$
, $az - bx - cy - dw = \Delta$

has a solution $\tilde{v}^t = (z, x, y, w) \in \mathbb{Z}^4$.

(3) The integral quaternary quadratic form $f(\epsilon, \sigma, \rho, \xi)$ given by

$$F = \begin{pmatrix} a - b & 0 & -c & -d \\ 0 & a - b & -d & c \\ -c & -d & a + b & 0 \\ -d & c & 0 & a + b \end{pmatrix}$$

represents Δ or $-\Delta$ over the integers.

Proof. The equivalence of (1) and (2) has been argued above.

The first equation in the Diophantine system in (2) produces Pythagorean quadruples. Any solution to $z^2 = x^2 + y^2 + w^2$ with gcd(x, y, w) = 1 and z > 0 can be written as

$$z = \epsilon^2 + \sigma^2 + \rho^2 + \xi^2, \ x = \epsilon^2 + \sigma^2 - \rho^2 - \xi^2,$$
$$y = 2(\epsilon \rho - \sigma \xi), \ \text{and} \ w = 2(\epsilon \xi + \sigma \rho).$$

Note that the restriction gcd(x, y, w) = 1 ensures that the class is not divisible, so is natural in this setting. Replacing (z, x, y, w) by these expressions in az - bx - cy - dw leads to $f(\varepsilon, \sigma, \rho, \xi)$.

Any solution to the Diophantine system in (2) for Δ with z < 0 also produces a solution to the corresponding equation for $-\Delta$ but with z > 0. Thus, a solution with z > 0 is always possible for $\pm \Delta$, if a solution exists at all.

Conversely, any integer representations of $\pm \Delta$ by the form f lead to classes (z, x, y, w) with z > 0 satisfying $az - bx - cy - dw = \pm \Delta$.

The goal is now to show that this form represents Δ in the integers. Note that det $f = n^2$, hence is always a perfect square and thus does not fit into most general results on quadratic forms (see [10]).

Until now, it was not relevant if A^2 was positive or not. However, the following Lemma shows the distinction that now occurs with regards to the definiteness of f and the sign of A^2 .

Lemma 5.2. Let A be a primitive class with $A^2 \neq 0$. If O_A is a simplified orbit, then f is an indefinite form. If O_A is a reduced orbit, then f is definite.

Proof. If O_A is a simplified orbit, then for a simplified class a - b (corresponding to pairing with (1, -1, 0, 0)) must be negative while the pairing with (1, 1, 0, 0) is positive. Hence, the form is indefinite.

If O_A is reduced, then $A^2 > 0$ when k = 3. The set of classes of positive square

$$\mathcal{P} = \{ A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z}) \mid A^2 > 0 \}$$

has two connected components. The Light Cone Lemma, essentially a corollary of the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, states, that if A and B both lie in the closure of the same component of \mathcal{P} , then either $A \cdot B > 0$ or they are multiples of each other with $A^2 = 0$. If A and B lie in distinct components, then either $A \cdot B < 0$ or they are multiples of each other with $A^2 = 0$. Thus, if $A^2 > 0$, then the pairing with a class $v^t = (z, x, y, w)$ with $v^2 = 0$ and z > 0 will always have fixed sign. This then implies that f is definite.

6. Existence of solutions

The key result that will be applied in this section is the following:

Theorem 6.1 ([5], Ch. 9, Th. 1.5). Let f be a regular (i.e. $\det f \neq 0$) indefinite integral form in $k \geq 4$ variables and let $m \neq 0$ be an integer. Suppose that m is represented by f over all \mathbb{Z}_p , p prime. Then m is represented by f over \mathbb{Z} .

Clearly, as f is indefinite and continuous over the reals, it has a real solution for $m = \Delta$ as there exist differences in O_A greater than Δ .

Assume that p > 2 is a prime dividing n. If p / a - b, then a - b is a p-adic unit and through p-adic row and column operations F becomes

$$\begin{pmatrix} a-b & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a-b & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & * & * \\ 0 & 0 & * & * \end{pmatrix}$$

Hence, F diagonalizes over \mathbb{Z}_p with a unimodular component of rank at least 2. Thus, if A is ordinary, it represents both 1 and -1 (see [5], Ch. 8, Lemma 3.4). If A is characteristic, then 2|a-b, so after factoring out a common factor of 2 the matrix is still unimodular, hence f represents both 2 and -2.

If p / a - b or p / a + b, then due to the symmetry of F, the argument above works. Assume that p | a - b, a + b. Then p | a, b. Assume that p also divides one of c or d. Then it in fact divides both and A is a divisible class.

Thus, p/|c or d. Assume p/|d, then clearly the same holds for $a \pm d$. Diagonalizing F under the assumption that p/d, but $p|a \pm b$, as described in [7], Ch. 15, 4.4, means that a-b is replaced by a-b-2d+a+b=2(a-d), which is not p-divisible. Now replace a-b by a-d in the original argument above to see that f represents $\pm \Delta$.

Thus, f represents both Δ and $-\Delta$ in \mathbb{Z}_p for $p \geq 3$. (p was assumed to divide n, clearly if $p \nmid n$, then the f represents Δ and $-\Delta$ as it is unimodular over \mathbb{Z}_p .)

Consider now the case p=2 and let A be ordinary. By Lemma 2.8, it is always possible to choose a-b to be odd. Assume this has been done. Then F can again be put in the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} a-b & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a-b & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & * & * \\ 0 & 0 & * & * \end{pmatrix}$$

If *n* is odd, then the argument given in [10] to prove the odd case of Theorem 1 applies here and *f* represents 1 and -1 in \mathbb{Z}_2 .

If n is even, then nothing can be said about the lower right rank 2 component of the form above. However, the split off rank 2 part corresponds to $g(x_1, x_2) = u(x_1^2 + x_2^2)$ where u is a 2-adic unit. We now show that either $u(x_1^2 + x_2^2) = 1$ or $u(x_1^2 + x_2^2) = -1$ always has a solution. The unit can be written as $u = 1 + \alpha \cdot 2 + \beta \cdot 4 + u_8$, with $\alpha, \beta \in \{0, 1\}$ and $8|u_8$. For u, there are four possible combinations of these initial terms:

- (1) 1: In this case, setting $x_1 = 1$ and $x_2 = 0$, $g(1, 0) \equiv_8 1$.
- (2) 1 + 2: Set $x_1 = 1$ and $x_2 = 2$, then $g(1, 2) \equiv_8 -1$.
- (3) 1 + 2 + 4: In this case, setting $x_1 = 1$ and $x_2 = 0$, $g(1, 0) \equiv_8 -1$.
- (4) 1 + 4: Set $x_1 = 1$ and $x_2 = 2$, then $g(1, 2) \equiv_8 1$.

Applying Hensel's Lemma (see [23], Ch. II, Cor 3) to g shows that f represents 1 or -1 in \mathbb{Z}_2 . Theorem 6.1 now leads to the following.

Lemma 6.2. Let A be primitive ordinary with $A^2 = -n < 0$ and k = 3. Then the quaternary quadratic form f of Theorem 5.1 represents either 1 or -1.

Consider now the case p = 2 and let A be characteristic. Lemma 2.8 shows that n = 4k + 2, in particular 2|n, but 4 / n. Then $a \pm b$ is even, c, d odd. Thus, the reduction process for F leads to the block matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} a-b & -d & 0 & 0 \\ -d & a+b & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & * & * \\ 0 & 0 & * & * \end{pmatrix}.$$

In particular, over \mathbb{Z}_2 , F does not have an orthogonal basis. Thus, recalling that det $f = n^2$, F splits as one of the following ([20], 93:11):

$$\epsilon H_i \oplus 2\eta H_i$$
 or $\epsilon H_i \oplus 2\eta \oplus 2\xi$.

Here $\epsilon, \eta, \xi \in \mathbb{Z}_2$ are units, $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$,

$$H_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $H_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$.

In each case, the form represents 2 and -2. As before, Theorem 6.1 leads to the following.

Lemma 6.3. Let A be primitive characteristic with $A^2 = -n < 0$ and k = 3. Then the quaternary quadratic form f of Theorem 5.1 represents either 2 or -2.

This completes the proof of Lemma 3.1 and thus also Theorem 1.1.

7. The case k=2

Thus far, the case with k=2 has been largely ignored, mostly because it is known that Theorem 1.1 does not hold in this setting. Wall [25] showed that the classes (1,4,1) and (3,4,3) lie in distinct orbits. The argument looks at the orthogonal complement of the two vectors and finds that each contains a unique vector of self-intersection 1, one ordinary and one characteristic. Hence no map in D(M) takes these into each other.

In the following, it is shown that whenever $n \ge 16$ is a perfect square there will be distinct ordinary and characteristic orbits.

As before, consider a family of transformations:

$$S(\beta)(a,b_j,b_k) = (ST_j)^\beta(a,b_j,b_k) =$$

$$= (a + 2\beta^2(a - b_k) + 2\beta b_i, b_k + 2\beta^2(a - b_k) + 2\beta b_i, b_i + 2\beta(a - b_k)).$$

Note that $R(\beta,\beta)$ is essentially this map, mapping b_i to $-b_i$. Thus this family of maps in k=2 is present in k=3 along the lines $b_i(\alpha,\beta)=const$ in the map $R(\alpha,\beta)$. This parabola has its vertex at $\beta_0=-\frac{b_j}{2(a-b_k)}$. If $a-b_k=-\Delta$, then there is again a unique terminal class.

It follows, that once again there is an equivalence for square free m:

(1) A = (a, b, c) is D(M)-equivalent to a class with difference m.

(2) The system of Diophantine equations

$$z^2 = x^2 + y^2$$
, $az - bx - cy = m$

has a solution $(z, x, y) \in \mathbb{Z}^3$.

For Pythagorean triples one has a general description, plugging this in here leads to the equivalent binary quadratic form for A = (a, b, c)

$$f(\epsilon, \sigma) = (a - c)\epsilon^2 - 2b\epsilon\sigma + (a + c)\sigma^2$$
.

The discriminant of this form is $D = 4b^2 - 4(a - c)(a + c) = -4A^2$. Thus the form is indefinite if $A^2 < 0$, and definite if $A^2 > 0$. If $n = \tau^2$, then the following is true:

Theorem 7.1 ([4], Theorem 1.3.1). *Let* f *be an integral binary quadratic form. Then the following statements are equivalent:*

- (1) The discriminant of f is a perfect square.
- (2) The form f is a product of two integral binary forms.
- (3) There is $(\epsilon, \sigma) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ with $(\epsilon, \sigma) \neq (0, 0)$ and $f(\epsilon, \sigma) = 0$.

Thus, the last point means that there exists a class in the orbit of O_A with difference 0. This has the form (a, τ, a) . Using the map S(t), one can ensure that $a \le \tau$.

Note that f is dependent on the order of b, c, yet the discriminant is not. Thus consider the forms associated to (a, τ, a) and (a, a, τ) separately. In each case, the Theorem implies that f factors over \mathbb{Z} . The results are

$$(a, \tau, a) \rightarrow f_1(\epsilon, \sigma) = 2y(-\tau\epsilon + a\sigma)$$

and

$$(a, a, \tau) \rightarrow f_2(\epsilon, \sigma) = (\epsilon - \sigma)[(a - \tau)\epsilon - (a + \tau)\sigma]$$

If A is ordinary, then $f_1=1$ has no solution in the integers. For $f_2, \varepsilon-\sigma=\pm 1$, which, after considering all permutations, only leads to the solution $a=\tau-1$. Thus only the class $(\tau-1,\tau,\tau-1)$ has an orbit with difference 1. Note that this is precisely the class (3,4,3) of Wall.

Assuming that A is characteristic, τ must be odd. Then $f_1 = \pm 2$ implies that $y = \pm 1$ and $a = \tau - 1$, which is even. From $f_2 = \pm 2$ it follows that $a = \tau - 2$. So only one of the characteristic orbits contains a class with difference of 2.

Lemma 7.2. Assume $n \ge 16$ is a perfect square and A is primitive. Then there exist at least two distinct D(M)-orbits of primitive ordinary classes and, if they exist, at least two distinct D(M)-orbits of primitive characteristic classes.

If n is not a perfect square, the situation becomes more muddled. On the one side there is the D(M) action. On the other, binary quadratic forms also admit a group action and a classification up to equivalence, see [4] for details. In fact, writing (a, b, c) for the homology class and [a - c, -2b, a + c] for the binary quadratic form, $S(\alpha)(a, b, c)$ leads to a family of forms

$$[a-c, -2(b+2\alpha(a-c)), a+c+4\alpha^{2}(a-c)+4\alpha b].$$

On the other side, the group generated by

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

acts on forms. This action on the form [a-c, -2b, a+c] produces

$$[a-c, -2b + 2\beta(a-c), a+c-2b\beta + \beta^2(a-c)]$$

These are remarkably similar, in fact if $\beta = -2\alpha$ they coincide. However, for odd β there does not appear to be a corresponding D(M) action.

Under the action of elementary transformations, (a, b, c) and (a, c, b) are equivalent. However, the equivalence of forms has no action that appears to take [a-c, -2b, a+c] to [a-b, -2c, a+b].

Due to this non-alignment of equivalences and the work needed to check if a form represents Δ over the integers (see Ch. 6, [4]), there does not appear to be any appreciable advantage of this method over simply calculating all simplified classes and manually checking for equivalence whenever n is not a perfect square.

8. Minimal genus

The minimal genus is the smallest possible genus g_A of a smooth representative of the class $A \in H_2(M, \mathbb{Z})$. If A has minimal genus g_A , then every class D(M)-equivalent to A does as well. Therefore, it is possible to determine the minimal genus for certain simplified orbits using Theorem 1.1 and Cor. 3.2,.

8.1. Primitive ordinary classes. In the primitive ordinary case, the classes $(\tau, \tau+1)$ and $(\tau-1, \tau)$ are both represented by complex or symplectic curves for some choice of complex or symplectic structure on $\mathbb{C}P^2\#\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$. Note that these structures can be chosen to be compatible with the orientation of $\mathbb{C}P^2\#\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$.

Now perform blow-ups (in the correct category) at appropriate points on or away from these curves. By Corollary 1.2, [22], these curves minimize the genus in their class. Hence the classes $(\tau, \tau+1,0,...,0)$ $(n=2\tau+1 \text{ odd})$ or $(\tau-1,\tau,1,0,...,0)$ $(n=2\tau \text{ even})$ both have minimal genus $g_A=0$. This completes the proof of Lemma 1.2.

Observe that these classes are equivalent to the class (-a, -(a + 1), 1, ..., 1), compare with the results in Section 4, [28] and Section 3, [6].

Remark: Using results on symplectic genus in [17], it is easy to see that no divisible ordinary class is represented by a symplectic surface.

8.2. Primitive characteristic classes. Cor. 3.2 shows that every primitive characteristic class with a simplified class in O_A is equivalent to $(2\gamma - 1, 2\gamma + 1, 1, ..., 1)$ for $\gamma \ge 0$. The minimal genus in two cases is well known: If $\gamma = 0$, the minimal genus is 0; when $\gamma = 1$, the minimal genus is 1. Hence, assume in the following that $\gamma \ge 2$.

Lemma 8.1. Let
$$A = (2\gamma - 1, 2\gamma + 1, 1, ..., 1) \in \mathbb{C}P^2 \# k \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$$
.

- (1) If $1 \le k \le 2\gamma 1$, then the minimal genus of any embedded surface representing A is bounded above by $2\gamma k$.
- (2) If γ is odd and $k \ge 2\gamma 1$, then the minimal genus of any embedded surface representing A is 1.
- (3) If γ is even and $k \ge 2\gamma$, then the minimal genus of any embedded surface representing A is 0.

Proof. Consider first the class $(2\gamma + \alpha, 2\gamma + \alpha + 2) \in H_2(\mathbb{C}P^2 \# \mathbb{C}P^2, \mathbb{Z})$. Applying Theorem 2, [16], see also [22], the minimal genus of this class is

$$\frac{1}{2}((2\gamma + \alpha + 1)(2\gamma + \alpha) - (2\gamma + \alpha)(2\gamma + \alpha - 1)) = 2\gamma + \alpha$$

The minimal genus is realized by a non-singular holomorphic curve for some complex structure on $\mathbb{C}P^2\#\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ which is not orientation-compatible with the standard orientation.

Hence, if k = 1 and $\alpha = -1$, the class $A = (2\gamma - 1, 2\gamma + 1)$ has minimal genus $2\gamma - 1$.

Assume that $2 \le k \le 2\gamma - 1$. For k = 2, the class $(2\gamma - 1, 2\gamma + 1, 1)$ is D(M)-equivalent to $(2\gamma - 3, 2\gamma - 1, 3)$ via the map $S(1)(2\gamma - 1, 1, 2\gamma + 1)$. This class is representable by an embedded curve with genus $2\gamma - 2$ obtained by connected sum of a torus in the class $3E_2$ and the curve of genus $2\gamma - 3$ in $\mathbb{C}P^2\#\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$.

The map S(1) = R(1, 1), as remarked in Section 7, hence repeated application of this map to replace the 1's by 3's while reducing the leading term as much as possible shows that

$$(2\gamma - 1, 2\gamma + 1, \underbrace{1, ..., 1}_{k-1}) \simeq (2\gamma - 3, 2\gamma - 1, 3, \underbrace{1, ..., 1}_{k-2}) \simeq (2\gamma - 5, 2\gamma - 3, 3, 3, \underbrace{1, ..., 1}_{k-3}) \simeq ... \simeq (2(\gamma - k + 1) - 1, 2(\gamma - k + 1) + 1, \underbrace{3, ..., 3}_{k-1}) = (2(\gamma - k) + 1, 2(\gamma - k) + 3, \underbrace{3, ..., 3}_{k-1}),$$

which has an embedded representative of genus $2\gamma - 2k + 1 + k - 1 = 2\gamma - k$ generated by connected sums of k - 1 tori with the representative of $(2(\gamma - k) + 1, 2(\gamma - k) + 3)$. Thus, for $k \le \gamma$ the result is proven.

Note that if $k = \gamma$, the class thus obtained is (1, 3, ..., 3), hence the class A is representable by k-tubed tori and the minimal genus is bounded above by γ .

In what follows, Theorem 1.1 will be applied repeatedly without explicit reference, it allows us to determine an equivalent class to A simply by numerical calculation. In order to produce examples for $k > \gamma$, a construction by Acosta [1] (see also [12], [2]) is repeated and expanded.

• Consider the class $(1,3) \in H_2(\mathbb{C}P^2\#\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2},\mathbb{Z})$. Represent the class $H \in \mathbb{C}P^2$ by two lines and one line with opposite orientation. These three lines can be chosen to meet transitively in three distinct points, two with negative intersection, one with positive intersection. Smooth the

negative points to produce an immersed sphere with a single positive self-intersection. The class $3E \in \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ is represented by three lines, all meeting transitively in three distinct negative points. Smoothing one of these and connect summing the resulting curve with the curve in $\mathbb{C}P^2$ at the two singular points with opposite orientation produces an immersed sphere with a single negative self-intersection representing the class $(1,3) \in H_2(\mathbb{C}P^2\#\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2},\mathbb{Z})$.

• Acosta performs a similar construction to produce a representative of $(1,3) \in H_2(\mathbb{C}P^2\#\mathbb{C}P^2,\mathbb{Z})$ consisting of two spheres, intersecting in a positive and a negative point. Either by changing orientation on the ambient manifold or by mimicking this construction, it can be shown that the class $(1,3) \in H_2(\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}\#\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2},\mathbb{Z})$ is also represented by two spheres meeting in two points, one positive and one negative.

These two examples will form the building blocks of the constructions for $k > \gamma$. If $\gamma < k \le 2\gamma - 1$, then $A \simeq (1, \underbrace{3, ..., 3}_{\gamma}, \underbrace{1, ..., 1}_{k-\gamma})$. Reorganize this as

$$(1,3,\underbrace{1,3,...,1,3}_{k-\gamma-1},\underbrace{3,...,3}_{2\gamma-k-1})$$

and produce an embedded representative as follows: The first (1,3)-pair is represented by an immersed sphere with a single negative intersection point. Form the connected sum at this intersection point with the positive intersection point of the representative of the second pair (1,3) which is formed out of two spheres. This again produces an immersed sphere with a single negative self-intersection point, but now representing the class $(1,3,1,3) \in H_2(\mathbb{C}P^2\# 3\mathbb{C}P^2,\mathbb{Z})$. Continue this procedure until an immersed sphere with a single negative intersection point using all of the $k-\gamma-1$ pairs above has been produced. Smoothing the intersection point produces an embedded torus. The remaining (3,...,3) have minimal genus (see [21]) $2\gamma-k-1$. Thus forming the connected sum of these two curves produces an embedded curve representing A of genus $2\gamma-k$. When $k=2\gamma-1$, this produces a torus. This completes the proof for $k\leq 2\gamma-1$.

Assume now that $k > 2\gamma - 1$. A classical result of Kervaire and Milnor ([12], [2]) states that for a characteristic class A to be representable by a sphere, it must hold that

$$A^2 \equiv_{16} \sigma$$
.

This implies, that if γ is odd, then the minimal genus is at least 1. Thus, in this case, when $k \ge 2\gamma - 1$ this minimal genus is achieved.

Finally, assume that γ is even and $k > 2\gamma - 1$. Then the minimal genus is either 0 or 1. The class $A \simeq (1, \underbrace{3, ..., 3}_{\gamma}, \underbrace{1, ..., 1}_{k-\gamma})$ can now be reorganized as

$$(1,3,\underbrace{1,3,...,1,3}_{\gamma-1 \text{ pairs}},\underbrace{1,..,1}_{k-2\gamma+1}).$$

The class $(3,1,3,...,1,3) \in H_2(\#_{2\gamma-1}\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2},\mathbb{Z})$ can be represented by an embedded torus by connect summing along opposite oriented intersection points of the two sphere representatives of (1,3), ultimately producing a representative consisting of two spheres intersecting in two points, one positive and one negative, but now representing the class (1,3,...,1,3). This can be connect summed with a representative of the class $3E_1$ which is an immersed sphere with a single negative self-intersection point to produce a curve which can be smoothed to make an embedded torus.

This class has self-intersection $-9\gamma - \gamma + 1 = -8\gamma - 2\gamma + 1 \equiv_{16} -2\gamma + 1 = \sigma$. Thus a result of Yasuhara (Connecting Lemma III, [27]) states that the class $(1, 3, 1, 3, ..., 1, 3, 1) \in H_2(\mathbb{C}P^2\#2\gamma\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}, \mathbb{Z})$ is represented by an embedded sphere.

This result can be viewed as a stabilization result, eventually every characteristic class will have the smallest possible minimal genus.

Remark:

- (1) It seems plausible that the minimal genus is in fact $2\gamma k$ for $k \le 2\gamma 1$.
- (2) The minimal genus of characteristic classes can be estimated from below using results in [1],[3] and [9]: If $n = 8\gamma + k 1$, then $g_A \ge \gamma k + 2$. In particular, if A is to be represented by a sphere, then γ must be even and thus

$$k \ge \gamma + 2 = 2(\nu + 1)$$
.

For example, as $\gamma \geq 2$, this gives the following estimates

$$\gamma = 2 : k > 4$$
; $\gamma = 4 : k > 6$; and $\gamma = 6 : k > 8$

under the restriction that $k \le 9$. Applying Lemma 8.1, this leaves a gap of classes for which no determination can be made:

$$\gamma = 2 : k = 4; \ \gamma = 4 : 6 \le k \le 8; \text{ and } \gamma = 6 : k \ge 8$$

References

- [1] ACOSTA, DANIEL J. A Furuta-like inequality for Spin orbifolds and the minimal genus problem. *Topology Appl.* 114 (2001), no. 1, 91–106. MR1830326 (2002m:57034), Zbl 0983.57027, doi: 10.1016/S0166-8641(00)00030-4. 1188, 1190
- [2] BOARDMAN, J. MICHAEL. Some embeddings of 2-spheres in 4-manifolds. *Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc.* **60** (1964), 354–356. MR0160241 (28 #3455), Zbl 0127.39102. 1188, 1189

- [3] BRYAN, JIM. Seiberg–Witten theory and Z/2p actions on spin 4-manifolds. Math. Res. Lett. 5 (1998), no. 1-2, 165–183. MR1617929 (99f:57036), Zbl 1002.57065, arXiv:dg-ga/9704010, doi: 10.4310/MRL.1998.v5.n2.a3. 1190
- [4] BUCHMANN, JOHANNES; VOLLMER, ULRICH. Binary quadratic forms. An algorithmic approach. Algorithms and Computation in Mathematics, 20. Springer, Berlin, 2007. xiv+318 pp. ISBN: 978-3-540-46367-2; 3-540-46367-4. MR2300780 (2008b:11046), Zbl 1125.11028, doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-46368-9. 1186, 1187
- [5] CASSELS, J. W. S. Rational quadratic forms. London Mathematical Society Monographs, 13. Academic Press, Inc. [Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], London-New York, 1978. xvi+413 pp. ISBN: 0-12-163260-1. MR0522835 (80m:10019), Zbl 0395.10029. 1183, 1184
- [6] CHEN, WEIMIN. Finite group actions on symplectic Calabi–Yau 4-manifolds with $b_1>0$. *J. Gökova Geom. Topol. GGT* **14** (2020), 1–54. MR4206325, Zbl 1475.57025, arXiv:2002.12849. 1187
- [7] CONWAY, JOHN H.; SLOANE, NEIL J. A. Sphere packings, lattices and groups. Third edition. With additional contributions by E. Bannai, R. E. Borcherds, J. Leech, S. P. Norton, A. M. Odlyzko, R. A. Parker, L. Queen and B. B. Venkov. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, 290. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1999. lxxiv+703 pp. ISBN: 0-387-98585-9. MR1662447 (2000b:11077), Zbl 0915.52003, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-6568-7. 1184
- [8] FRIEDMAN, ROBERT; MORGAN, JOHN W. On the diffeomorphism types of certain algebraic surfaces. II. J. Differential Geom. 27 (1988), no. 3, 371–398. MR0940111 (89d:57047), Zbl 0669.57017, doi: 10.4310/jdg/1214442001. 1175
- [9] HAMILTON, MARK J. D. Homology classes of negative square and embedded surfaces in 4-manifolds. *Bull. Lond. Math. Soc.* 45 (2013), no. 6, 1221–1226. MR3138489, Zbl 1306.57021, arXiv:1301.3733, doi:10.1112/blms/bdt050.1190
- [10] JAMES, DONALD G. Orthogonal decompositions of indefinite quadratic forms. Quadratic forms and real algebraic geometry (Corvallis, OR, 1986). *Rocky Mountain J. Math.* 19 (1989), no. 3, 735–740. MR1043245 (91b:11032), Zbl 0705.11016, doi: 10.1216/RMJ-1989-19-3-735. 1183, 1184
- [11] KAC, VICTOR G. Infinite-dimensional Lie algebras. Third edition. *Cambridge University Press, Cambridge*, 1990. xxii+400 pp. ISBN: 0-521-37215-1; 0-521-46693-8. MR1104219 (92k:17038), Zbl 0716.17022, doi:10.1017/CBO9780511626234. 1173, 1175, 1176
- [12] KERVAIRE, MICHEL A.; MILNOR, JOHN W. On 2-spheres in 4-manifolds. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 47 (1961), 1651–1657. MR0133134 (24 #A2968), Zbl 0107.40303, doi: 10.1073/pnas.47.10.1651. 1188, 1189
- [13] KIKUCHI, KAZUNORI. Representing positive homology classes of $\mathbb{C}P^2\#2\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ and $\mathbb{C}P^2\#3\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* **117** (1993), no. 3, 861–869. MR1131036 (93d:57065), Zbl 0778.57012, doi: 10.2307/2159157.
- [14] LAWSON, TERRY. Smooth embeddings of 2-spheres in 4-manifolds. *Exposition. Math.* **10** (1992), no. 4, 289–309. MR1184697 (93m:57041), Zbl 0764.57020. 1177
- [15] LI, BANG-HE. Representing nonnegative homology classes of $\mathbb{C}P^2\#n\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ by minimal genus smooth embeddings. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **352** (2000), no. 9, 4155–4169. MR1637082 (2000m:57052), Zbl 0947.57034, doi:10.1090/S0002-9947-99-02422-8. 1176
- [16] LI, BANG-HE; LI, TIAN-JUN. Minimal genus smooth embeddings in $S^2 \times S^2$ and $\mathbb{C}P^2 \# n \overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$ with $n \leq 8$. *Topology* **37** (1998), no. 3, 575–594. MR1604887 (99b:57059), Zbl 0899.57022, doi: 10.1016/S0040-9383(97)00042-6. 1188
- [17] LI, BANG-HE; LI, TIAN-JUN. Symplectic genus, minimal genus and diffeomorphisms. Asian J. Math. 6 (2002), no. 1, 123–144. MR1902650 (2003c:57027), Zbl 1008.57024, arXiv:math/0108227, doi:10.4310/AJM.2002.v6.n1.a7. 1175, 1187
- [18] LI, BANG-HE; LI, TIAN-JUN. Smooth minimal genera for small negative classes in $\mathbb{CP}^2 \# n \overline{\mathbb{CP}}^2$ with $n \leq 9$. *Topology Appl.* **132** (2003), no. 1, 1-15. MR1989595 (2004e:57036), Zbl 1028.57033, doi: 10.1016/S0166-8641(02)00357-7. 1175, 1176, 1177

- [19] LI, BANG-HE; LI, TIAN-JUN. On the diffeomorphism groups of rational and ruled 4-manifolds. J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 46 (2006), no. 3, 583–593. MR2311360 (2008e:57032), Zbl 1139.57032, doi: 10.1215/kjm/1250281750. 1175
- [20] O'MEARA, O. T. Introduction to quadratic forms. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 117. Academic Press, Inc., Publishers, New York; Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Göttingen-Heidelberg, 1963. xi+342 pp. MR0152507 (27 #2485), Zbl 0107.03301. 1185
- [21] ROHLIN, VLADIMIR A. Two-dimensional submanifolds of four-dimensional manifolds. Funkcional. Anal. i Priložen. 5 (1971), no. 1, 48–60. MR0298684 (45 #7733), Zbl 0268.57019, doi: 10.1007/BF01075846. 1189
- [22] RUBERMAN, DANIEL. The minimal genus of an embedded surface of non-negative square in a rational surface. *Turkish J. Math.* 20 (1996), no. 1, 129–133. MR1392668 (97k:57036), Zbl 0870.57025. 1187, 1188
- [23] SERRE, JEAN-PIERRE A course in arithmetic. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 7. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1973. viii+115 pp. MR0344216 (49 #8956), Zbl 0256.12001. 1184
- [24] SPIRA, ROBERT. The Diophantine equation $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 = m^2$. Amer. Math. Monthly **69** (1962), 360–364. MR0139574 (25 #3006), Zbl 0105.03602, doi: 10.2307/2312125.
- [25] WALL, C. T. C. On the orthogonal groups of unimodular quadratic forms. II. J. Reine Angew. Math. 213 (1963/64), 122–136. MR0155798 (27 #5732), Zbl 0135.08802. 1173, 1175, 1177, 1185
- [26] WALL, C. T. C. Diffeomorphisms of 4-manifolds. J. London Math. Soc. 39 (1964), 131–140. MR0163323 (29 #626), Zbl 0121.18101, doi: 10.1112/jlms/s1-39.1.131. 1177
- [27] YASUHARA, AKIRA. Connecting lemmas and representing homology classes of simply connected 4-manifolds. *Tokyo J. Math.* **19** (1996), no. 1, 245–261. MR1391941 (97g:57027), Zbl 0865.57034, doi:10.3836/tjm/1270043232. 1190
- [28] ZHANG, WEIYI. The curve cone of almost complex 4-manifolds. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 115 (2017), no. 6, 1227–1275. MR3741851, Zbl 1393.32011, arXiv:1501.06744, doi:10.1112/plms.12062.1187
- [29] ZHAO, XU'AN; GAO, HONGZHU; QIU, HUAIDONG. The minimal genus problem in rational surfaces $\mathbb{C}P^2\#n\overline{\mathbb{C}P^2}$. Sci. China Ser. A **49** (2006), no. 9, 1275–1283. MR2284210 (2007j:14066), Zbl 1112.57009, doi:10.1007/s11425-006-2019-z. 1174, 1175, 1176, 1180

(Josef G. Dorfmeister) Department of Mathematics, North Dakota State University, Fargo, ND 58102, USA

josef.dorfmeister@ndsu.edu

This paper is available via http://nyjm.albany.edu/j/2022/28-50.html.